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I. INTRODUCTION 

The White Mountain Apache Tribe (“Tribe”) responds to the United States’ motion to dismiss 

and motion for summary judgment. This Court already established that the Tribe pled sufficient facts 

to survive a motion to dismiss on claims relating to contamination on the Fort Apache Indian 

Reservation, and the Tribe has subsequently specified narrow and well-supported claims under the 

Indian Lands Open Dump Cleanup Act (“Open Dump Act”), 25 U.S.C. § 3901, et seq. The facts 

alleged by the Tribe continue to be sufficient to establish this Court’s jurisdiction.  

A plain language analysis of the Open Dump Act includes the direction that the Director of 

the Indian Health Service (“IHS”) “shall…provide financial and technical assistance” to inventory 

open dumps, “close such dumps,” and “provide for post-closure maintenance of such dumps.” 25 

U.S.C. § 3904(b).  It is well settled in the Federal Circuit that such clear and specific statutory 

mandates to protect trust resources to the benefit of the Tribe create a fiduciary duty, and that where 

a statute employs the term “shall” connected to payment, it establishes a money-mandating duty 

giving rise to this Court’s jurisdiction.  

The Tribe’s allegations and the undisputed facts establish that IHS failed to provide the 

required open dumps inventory until June, 2020, three years after filing of the Complaint in this case. 

The June 2020 inventory establishes there are presently at least 45 open dumps on the Reservation.  

At least five of those sites contain hazardous wastes, and at least one of these dumps was created by 

the United States. The undisputed facts further establish that IHS has not provided any funding 

dedicated to dump closure or post-closure maintenance since 2004, in plain violation of statutory 

requirements, and that grants received from other agencies have only been sufficient to close four 

dumps during the claims period.  These facts not only are fatal to the motion to dismiss, they 

demonstrate that the United States has breached its statutory and fiduciary duties, with resulting harm 

and money damages to the Tribe.  
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The motion to dismiss should be denied, and pursuant to RCFC 56(f)(1), the Tribe as 

nonmovant should be granted partial summary judgment with respect to the United States’ liability 

for breach of trust in failing to provide funding and take other action to close known open dumps and 

perform post-closure maintenance.  Further factual development is needed to prove damages.  

II. LEGAL BACKGROUND 

This is an action by Plaintiff, the White Mountain Apache Tribe (“Tribe”), seeking money 

damages against the United States of America (“United States” or “Government”) for breaches of 

fiduciary duties by the United States, acting by and through its past and current federal agencies and 

officers, as trustees and trustee delegates of funds, land, timber and other assets held by the United 

States for the benefit of the Tribe.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 1. This action arises out of the Government's breach 

of statutory, regulatory, and common law trust duties owed to the Tribe.  Id.  

In the context of this complex, broad-ranging case, the claim at issue in the present dispute is 

narrow.1 The Tribe’s complaint alleged that the Government breached its fiduciary duties to prevent 

contamination of lands held in trust by the United States, including through violation of the Indian 

Lands Open Dump Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3901 et seq.. ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 15, 20. After defeating the 

Government’s first motion to dismiss and conducting jurisdictional discovery, the Tribe specified a 

claim based on the Open Dump Act, that “the United States has breached its trust responsibilities to 

the Tribe by failing to provide adequate financial and technical assistance to: (1) inventory dumps; 

 
 
1 The Tribe is no longer making other Phase I non-monetary asset claims and has no objection to 
their dismissal.  However, to the extent that leases, rights of way or minerals relate to other claims in 
this case, the claims should not be considered part of the Government’s motion and should remain 
part of the case.   For example, claims that the Government should have collected funds under a 
forestry or mineral lease or other contract should remain in the case as a trust fund claim.  See 
Shoshone Indian Tribe v. United States, 364 F.3d 1339, 1350-51 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (distinguishing 
between non-monetary asset claims and trust fund claims of failure to collect amounts due under 
contracts, deposit funds, or assess penalties). 
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(2) develop a plan to close dumps; (3) close dumps and (4) provide postclosure maintenance of such 

dumps.” ECF. No. 66-47 at 2. This claim extends to “damages caused by the lack of dump 

identification, planning, closure and maintenance, such as soil and water remediation and human 

health effects.” Id.  

A. The United States Has Solemn Fiduciary Duties to the White Mountain Apache 
Tribe.  
 

Congress and the Supreme Court have long recognized the existence of the United States’ 

solemn fiduciary duties to Indian Tribes. “The Court has recognized the distinctive obligation of trust 

incumbent upon the Government in its dealings with these dependent and sometimes exploited 

people.” Seminole Nation v. United States, 316 U.S. 286, 296 (1942). The Supreme Court set a high 

standard when explaining the scope of the Government’s fiduciary obligation: 

Under a humane and self imposed policy which has found expression in many 
acts of Congress and numerous decisions of this Court, it has charged itself with 
moral obligations of the highest responsibility and trust. Its conduct, as disclosed 
in the acts of those who represent it in dealings with the Indians should therefore 
be judged by the most exacting fiduciary standards. 

 
Id. at 296-297; accord Cobell v. Norton, 240 F.3d 1081, 1099 (D.C. Cir. 2001); Shoshone Indian 

Tribe v. United States, 364 F.3d 1339, 1348 (Fed. Cir. 2004); Jicarilla Apache Nation v. United 

States, 112 Fed. Cl. 274, 287 (2013). 

 Statutes and regulations describing the United States’ duties in managing resources on lands 

held in trust by the United States create specific fiduciary duties that mandate compensation for 

damages sustained as a result of the breach of the duties imposed. See, e.g., United States v. Mitchell 

(Mitchell II), 463 U.S. 206, 222, 224, 226 (1983). The U.S. Supreme Court and this court have found 

money-mandating duties in many contexts. See, e.g., Mitchell II, 463 U.S. at 225-26 (timber 

resources); United States v. White Mt. Apache Tribe, 537 U.S.465, 468, 471 (2003) (Fort Apache); 

White Mt. Apache v. United States, No. 17-359 (2018), ECF 22 at 13-14 (dams); Jicarilla Apache 
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Nation v. United States, 112 Fed. Cl. 274 (2013) (trust funds); Shoshone Indian Tribe of the Wind 

River Reservation v. United States, 71 Fed. Cl. 172, 178 (Fed. Cl. 2006) (oil and gas reserves). 

B. The Indian Tucker Act Provides the Court Jurisdiction to Hear the Tribe’s Claim. 

The Indian Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1505, provides this Court with jurisdiction, authorizes 

claims for money damages, and constitutes a waiver of sovereign immunity. White Mt. Apache Tribe, 

537 U.S. at 472. An important goal of the Indian Tucker Act is to ensure that Indians received “their 

fair day in court so that they can call the various Government agencies to account on the obligations 

that the Federal government assumed.” 92 Cong. Rec. 5312 (1946). Although the Indian Tucker 

Act waives sovereign immunity by granting jurisdiction over certain claims, it does not itself create 

any substantive rights. United States v. Navajo Nation, 556 U.S. 287, 290 (2009) (Navajo II). The 

Indian tribe must assert a claim arising out of other sources of law specified in the Act, such as a 

statute or contract. Id. The Tribe’s claim is based on the Open Dump Act.  

C. The Open Dump Act Provides the Substantive Law for the Tribe’s Claim. 

The source of the substantive law for the Tribe’s claim at issue is the Open Dump Act. As 

detailed herein, prior to the passage of the Act, federal agencies operating on Indian Reservations, 

including the Fort Apache Reservation, frequently created open dumps and contributed waste to those 

dumps. This created severe human health and environmental threats and placed the United States and 

the Tribes at legal risk because the dumps were out of compliance with federal law including the 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (“RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992k.  

The Open Dump Act recognizes that open dumps are a severe human health and environmental 

threat to Tribal members and trust resources on Indian lands, 25 U.S.C. § 3901(a)(1)-(4), that “the 

United States holds most Indian lands in trust for the benefit of Indian tribes and Indian individuals,” 

and that “most Indian tribal governments and Alaska Native entities lack the financial and technical 

resources necessary to close and maintain these dumps in compliance with applicable Federal laws,” 
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id. §§ 3901(a)(5), (6). The Act addressed the crisis by dictating that within one year IHS “conduct a 

study and inventory of open dumps on Indian lands,” including “an assessment of the relative severity 

of the threat to public health and the environment posed by each dump.” 25 U.S.C. § 3903(a).  

The Act next imposes specific fiduciary obligations to individual tribes, that form the basis of 

the Tribe’s open dumps claim. Upon request by a Tribe, “the Director shall…conduct an inventory 

and evaluation of the contents of open dumps on the Indian lands …determine the relative severity of 

the threat to public health and the environment posed by each dump … and…develop cost estimates 

for the closure and postclosure maintenance of such dumps.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(a). The Act then 

mandates that the “[u]pon completion of the activities required to be performed pursuant to subsection 

(a), the Director shall…provide financial and technical assistance to the Indian tribal government … 

to carry out the activities necessary to…close such dumps; and . . . provide for postclosure 

maintenance of such dumps.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b).  “Once the inventory is complete, IHS is 

mandated to provide financial and technical assistance to the tribe to close and maintain the landfills.” 

1 Cohen's Handbook of Federal Indian Law § 10.05 (2019) (emphasis added). 

25 U.S.C. § 3904(c) dictates that the financial and technical assistance “shall be made available 

on a site-specific basis in accordance with priorities developed by the Director,” and that these 

priorities must be developed in consultation with the Tribe and “shall take into account the relative 

severity of the threat to public health and the environment posed by each open dump and the 

availability of funds necessary for closure and postclosure maintenance.”  

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The Tribe is a federally recognized Indian Tribe based on the Fort Apache Indian Reservation 

(“Reservation”). The United States hold approximately 1.66 million acres in trust for the Tribe. The 

Reservation is part of the Tribe’s homeland, where the Tribe and the Tribe’s ancestors have resided 

since time immemorial. The Tribe filed a complaint in this Court on March 15, 2017 alleging that the 
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United States breached its fiduciary duties to the Tribe (ECF No. 1). The complaint alleged, inter alia, 

that the United States breached its duties with respect to management of the Tribe’s trust funds and 

non-monetary assets. See ECF No. 1 at 1-2 ¶¶ 2-3, Claim II at 21 ¶¶ 1-5. For purposes of the present 

motion, the Tribe specifically alleged that the Reservation has been contaminated by non-Tribal 

entities with hazardous waste and pollution, id. at 6 ¶ 15, that the United States has a fiduciary duty 

to implement the Open Dump Act to protect natural resources on the Reservation, id. at 7 ¶ 20, and 

that it violated that duty, id. at Claim II at 21 ¶ 3.  

On July 14, 2017, the United States filed a motion for partial dismissal of the Tribe’s claims 

(ECF No. 9). The motion sought to dismiss claims relating to contamination based on the argument 

that these claims were pled with insufficient specificity, and that pre-2011 claims were time-barred 

based on what the Tribe knew or should have known regarding contamination (ECF No. 9-1 at 26-

27). In response, the Tribe explained that the Tribe met the low pleading standard set by Twombly, 

550 U.S. 544 (2007) and RCFC 8(a)(2), and lacked information regarding when the Tribe knew or 

should have known of breaches of fiduciary duty because the Secretary of the Interior, as the Tribe’s 

trustee, controls much of that information (ECF No. 16 at 30-31).  

This Court denied the United States’ motion with respect to contamination claims “without 

prejudice for the purpose of limited discovery on the question of when the Tribe knew or should have 

known of the Government’s alleged breaches of fiduciary duty.”  ECF No. 22 at 2, 14.  By denying 

the motion and providing further discovery focused on the statute of limitations question of “when 

the Tribe knew or should have known,” the Court impliedly determined that the Tribe had met the 

pleading standard and the only question remaining was the temporal extent of the claims. No party 

appealed or requested reconsideration of the Court’s ruling on the contamination issue.  

In accordance with the Court’s direction to organize this complex case, the parties undertook 

discovery on contamination claims, as well as potential claims relating to minerals, rights of way, and 
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leases, which are collectively referred to as “Phase I” claims.2  Discovery was repeatedly extended 

due to the temporary shutdown of the federal government in the winter of 2018-2019, the complexity 

of the case, the extremely large volume of documents produced, and the COVID-19 pandemic (see 

ECF Nos. 52, 53, 54, 56, 57, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64). The parties agreed, and this Court ordered that the 

Tribe would “specify any leases, rights of way, and environmental claims, and provide the factual 

nature, location, and date of any such claim, as well as the statutes, regulations, and legal instruments 

on which any such claim is based, by September 1, 2020.”  ECF No. 64.  

Discovery confirmed that there are at least 45 unresolved open dumps on the Reservation and 

that they remain a major environmental and human health hazard.  While the Tribe identified multiple 

potential claims for Phase I subjects, the Tribe determined that only one claim was worth pursuit given 

the resources required, the likely recovery, and the potential for delay in getting to the likely much 

more significant claims relating to management of trust funds, management of the Tribe’s forest 

resources, and management of dam safety. While the United States speculates that the identification 

of one claim demonstrates that discovery was a “fishing expedition,” see ECF No. 66-1 at 12 n. 2, the 

Tribe carefully reviewed voluminous discovery, evaluated potential claims, and elected the most 

efficient path forward.3  In accordance with the Court’s order, the Tribe timely specified its open 

dumps claim and its factual basis (ECF Nos. 66-46, 66-47).  

The Tribe notified the Government that “[t]he Tribe claims that the United States has breached 

 
 
2 The other claims were saved for later. Phasing tribal breach of trust cases such as this one is not 
unusual given their complexity. See e.g., Shoshone Indian Tribe of the Wind River Reservation v. 
United States, 51 Fed. Cl. 60, 62 (2001) (describing sand and gravel, oil and gas accounting, other 
oil and gas issues, and trust funds mismanagement phases).  
 
3 As the case schedule developed, the Tribe represented to this Court that, after some discovery, it 
would winnow its claims. ECF No. 16 at 1 (“Following discovery, the Tribe will winnow its claims 
and provide the Court with a specific set of claims coupled with the scope of time applicable to each 
claim”). That is exactly what occurred. 
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its trust responsibilities to the Tribe by failing to provide adequate financial and technical assistance 

to: (1) inventory dumps; (2) develop a plan to close dumps; (3) close dumps and (4) provide 

postclosure maintenance of such dumps. These claims extend to damages caused by the lack of dump 

identification, planning, closure and maintenance, such as soil and water remediation and human 

health effects.” ECF No. 66-47 at 2. The claim is based on breach of the Open Dump Act, “as informed 

by relevant provisions of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and implementing regulations 

and the Snyder Act and 25 U.S.C. § 162[a](d)(8).” Id. at 3. With respect to the statute of limitations, 

the basis for discovery, the Tribe further specified that it “limits its claims to those accrued six years 

prior to filing of the complaint, which was filed on March 15, 2017.” Id. 

On November 16, 2020, the United States filed its motion to dismiss, alternatively fashioned 

as a motion for summary judgment. ECF No. 66. The scope of the disputed issues is narrow. The 

United States concedes that there are many open dumps on the Reservation, including at least one that 

was created by the United States.  ECF No. 66-34 at 5, ECF No. 66-43.  The United States also 

concedes that the Tribe has repeatedly sought assistance (US PFOFs 29-47), and that these dumps 

have not been closed and there is no plan to immediately close them, fund closure, or fund post-closure 

maintenance, ECF 66-1 at 30. The core questions are therefore whether the Open Dump Act creates 

a money-mandating duty to the Tribe, and whether the Tribe adequately alleged that the United States 

breached that duty during the time period from March 16, 2011 to present.  

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Tribe corrects and expands upon the United States’ factual assertions below.  

A. History of Open Dumps on the White Mountain Apache Reservation Leading 
Up to the Open Dump Act. 
 

Open dumping has long presented one of the most serious and pressing human health and 

environmental concerns on the Reservation.  ECF 66-5 at 16.  The United States was a driving force 
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in the creation of open dumps and the resulting health and environmental impacts, as government 

agencies often dug pits for open dumps or used open dumps for their waste. ECF No. 66-16 at 2-3. In 

1990, the IHS published a report titled “Solid Waste Disposal Systems Survey Report Fort Apache 

Indian Reservation Whiteriver, Arizona.” ECF No. 66-2 at 16-36. The report details known major 

open dumps on the Reservation, systematic use of open dumps by federal and Tribal agencies, id. at 

19, as well as a description of the human health, environmental, and economic impacts. The report 

paints a dire picture that remains accurate today, providing in part that: 

…open dumps also present a number of environmental health problems. These 
problems include uncontrolled burning, the existence of food and shelter for 
vermin, the possibility for contamination of ground water, and safety and biological 
hazards to scavengers. Uncontrolled burning at a dump can be a source of pollution 
in the form of particulate matter in smoke or as gases and odors from incompletely 
burned trash and garbage. Both of these are a nuisance to nearby residents and can 
cause respiratory problems in certain individuals. Another problem associated with 
uncontrolled burning is the potential for starting fires in fields or forests adjacent to 
the dumps which could be financially devastating to the WMAT. 

An open dump also provides both food and shelter for a number of animals 
which can carry and transmit various diseases to man. While burning might be 
considered as a means of controlling this problem (particularly the food 
availability), usually only the combustible items burn while the foodstuffs remain 
for the animals' consumption. What makes this problem worse is that domestic 
animals are attracted to the dumps for the same reasons that the wild animals are, 
but the domestic animals can carry items (dead animals, food wastes, or disease 
organisms to which they were exposed) back to the communities and homes.  

The location of open dumps without design consideration of geologic and 
hydrologic factors presents the possibility for the contamination of ground water. 
The uncontrolled access to these dumps provides the opportunity for the disposal 
of any item, including hazardous wastes and chemicals. This uncontrolled access, 
along with uncontrolled surface drainage and the location of some dumps in or near 
washes, enhances concern about migration of chemicals into the ground water. 

Another environmental health problem inherent to any open dump is the 
exposure of individuals scavenging in the dump to health and safety hazards. 
Besides the exposure to fires and vermin already mentioned, a dump at any given 
time may also contain any of the following: contaminated wastes, animal carcasses, 
toxic chemicals, poisonous materials, broken glass, sharp-edged objects, and other 
potentially hazardous items such as discarded refrigerators. The types of problems 
these might cause include burns, exposure to pathogenic organisms, chemical 
burns, poisoning, cuts and lacerations, falls, and suffocation. In other words, an 
open dump is a very hazardous environment. A final problem with open dumps is 
that they are aesthetically unappealing and may have an adverse affect on the 
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WMAT tourist program. 
 

Id. at 18-19. In addition to the urgent health and environmental risk imposed by dumps, there was also 

the threat of legal liability for the United States and Tribe. The report acknowledges that “[t]he use of 

open dumps for the disposal of solid waste on the Fort Apache Indian Reservation is in violation of 

the current [Resource Conservation and Recovery Act] regulations.” Id. at 20.  

Memos from BIA and IHS in 1993 detailed that the list of active dumps had either been 

inaccurate or grown in number to 19.  Id. at 37.  Many of the dumps at least in part were created by 

the United States and/or filled with garbage dumped by the United States. Id. at 41-42. The seminal 

decision Blue Legs v. BIA, 867 F.2d 1094 (8th Cir. 1989) held that open dumps constituted RCRA 

violations, and that the Government had a trust obligation to obtain compliance and remedy the 

damage of such dumps. irrespective of the degree to which the Government created those dumps. Id. 

at 1100-1101. The court further held that “BIA and IHS have not merely violated the RCRA, but, in 

so doing, they have violated their fiduciary obligation toward the plaintiffs and the Tribe.” Id. at 1101.  

B. The Development of the Indian Lands Open Dump Cleanup Act. 
 

The Blue Legs decision clarified that the United States and tribes faced massive liability for 

not remedying open dumps across Indian Country, and focused Congressional attention on the issue. 

Committees began several years of hearings, with testimony from Tribal leaders across Indian County 

detailing the widespread problem. Senator John McCain of Arizona acknowledged that “[a]ll of these 

hearings… revealed serious deficiencies in Federal efforts to assist tribal governments. Indeed, for 

many years there was no Federal effort at all.” Senate Congressional Record, April 1, 1993 p. 7315. 

Senator McCain continued:  

[A]s we have investigated environmental quality issues on Indian lands over the 
past 4 years I have constantly been amazed by the willingness of the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, the Indian Health Service and the Environmental Protection Agency 
to cast blame on one another and the tribal governments rather than seek 
constructive solutions to problems which actually pose serious threats to public 
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health and the environment. I share the deep frustration often voiced by tribal 
leaders who are shuffled from agency to agency without ever receiving a straight 
answer.  

Id.  The Senator expressly identified the genesis of the Act as the United States’ trust duty to the 

Tribes: “[i]n view of the fact that the proper handling of this issue involves human health, the 

environment and the Federal trust responsibility it does not seem to me to be unrealistic to 

expect a more constructive response from the agencies.” Id. (emphasis added). Before the House 

Committee on Natural Resources, Representative Richardson similarly invoked the Government’s 

trust responsibility: 

We are looking at an environmental crisis in Indian country. As the Federal trustee 
responsible for constructing many of these facilities, we must accept the 
responsibility for the effective closure of open dumps and the continued 
operation of tribal landfills… We cannot allow the Federal Government to stand 
idly by while tribes' precious resources are being contaminated.  

103d Cong. 102, 2nd Sess. at 1 (1994) (emphasis added).  

The need for dedicated funding and technical assistance from Government agencies was a 

recurring theme. See H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 7. Congress specifically noted that IHS often did not 

address open dumps because they were pushed down the priority list relative to drinking water and 

sewer projects. S. Rep. No. 103-253 at 14. Congress recognized that open dumps were a critical issue, 

that many were created by the United States, and that the core problem to closing such dumps was 

financial, as “[m]ost Indian tribal governments lack the financial and technical resources necessary to 

assess the threat to public health and the environment posed by these open dumps and to provide for 

their proper closure and postclosure maintenance.” Id. at 2. New regulations finalized by the EPA in 

October 1991, set more stringent standards for landfills, which the Senate anticipated would only 

heighten the financial challenges faced by Tribes. See id. at 2. 

Congress’ solution, set forth in the Open Dump Act, was to designate IHS as the responsible 

agency, to require IHS to take the lead role in identifying dumps, and to require IHS to provide funding 
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and technical assistance to Tribes sufficient to clean up dumps. Congress envisioned this as a 

continuing duty delegated to IHS: “The IHS already has a core of qualified personnel with the requisite 

experience. It is far more cost effective in the near and long term for IHS to provide the necessary 

financial and technical assistance to the tribal governments.” S. Rep. No. 103-253 at 3 (emphasis 

added). On April 1, 1993, Senators McCain, Inouye, and Reid introduced the Indian Open Dumps 

Cleanup Act of 1994, “to identify and assess the relative health and environmental hazards of open 

dumps on Indian and Alaska Native lands and to provide financial and technical assistance for the 

closure of such dumps.” See H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 4. The House also recognized that “problems 

associated with solid waste disposal on Indian lands are among the most serious threats to public 

health and the environment,” H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 4, and the related “continuing obligation on 

the part of the Federal government to ensure that these landfills meet the Federal landfill criteria.” 

H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 7. Like the Senate, the House repeatedly recognized the need for “a 

significant influx of resources” as the primary issue. See H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 7. The 

Congressional record reflects a letter from Representative Thomas of Wyoming recalling a site visit 

to the Wind River Reservation, home to the Eastern Shoshone Tribe and Northern Arapaho Tribe, to 

view open dumps. Mr. Thomas recalled observing:  

[n]o more than an open pit gouged into a hill side, it contained garbage, appliances, 
toxic and chemical waste, and even the carcasses of dead livestock, all left by 
residents and nonresidents of the Reservation. Pits like these exist on 
reservations across the country. Yet tribes lack the financial and technical resources 
to deal with the problem. Instead, all they have are unfunded mandates from 
Congress requiring them to clean up the problem or face civil and criminal 
penalties.  

 
House Congressional Record, October 4, 1994 p. 27728 (emphasis added). Mr. Thomas’ observation 

reflects Congressional understanding that open dumps were created both by the Government and by 

residents of reservations, and that the Open Dump Act would apply to all dumps regardless of the 

waste’s origin. The Act was signed into law on Oct. 22, 1994.  See Pub. L. 103–399, § 2, Oct. 22, 
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1994, 108 Stat. 4164, codified as 25 U.S.C. § 3901 et. seq.  

C. Federal Implementation of the Open Dump Act.  

The Government’s implementation of the Open Dump Act has been sporadic and limited. 

While the Act requires a report within one year of passage and anticipated roughly 600 open dumps 

requiring remediation, the analysis took much longer to complete and remediation proved to be a 

bigger undertaking than expected:  

In 1998, four years after the passage of the Act, the Indian Health Service reported 
that 1,104 open dumps continued to exist within Indian country, and, of these, 587 
were considered to present a moderate to high threat to health and the environment. 
The 1998 Indian Health Service study apparently is the last published report on the 
status of open dumps in Indian country. No full inventory on hazardous waste sites 
in Indian country or Alaska Native villages appears ever to have been conducted.4  

 
IHS did assist with the creation of some regulated landfills on Reservations, including the Tribe’s 

efforts on the White Mountain Apache Reservation (US PFOF 14-28).  

 IHS' efforts to implement the Act have been plagued by technical and operational challenges. 

In a 2016 joint IHS and EPA memorandum, the agencies noted that: 

Data on open dump sites in the Indian Health Service (IHS) Operation and 
Maintenance Data System (OMDS) indicates there are nearly 3,300 sites where 
action is pending to close, clean-up, or upgrade the sites. However, the ability of 
IHS and Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to confidently stand behind 
this data and develop projects to address the health impacts of these sites is 
limited.5 
 

In a 2020 report to Congress requesting appropriations, IHS requested $3 million for “the purpose of 

updating the inventory of open dumps currently identified in the IHS data system to ensure 

 
 
4 Walker, Jana L.; Bradley, Jennifer L.; and Humphrey, Timothy J. (2002) "A Closer Look at 
Environmental Injustice in Indian Country," Seattle Journal for Social Justice: Vol. 1: Iss. 2 , Article 
5. Available at: https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol1/iss2/5 
5 “Proposed Approach to Improve Open Dumps Data and Solid Waste Projects and Programs in Indian 
Country,” IHS and EPA, 2016 (emphasis added). Available at: 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-03/documents/tribalswopendumpdata508.pdf at 1. 
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compliance with the requirements of the Indian Lands Open Dump Cleanup Act (PL103-399).”6 It is 

clear from this request that the agency still views the Act as creating ongoing, mandatory duties.  

 EPA has a consulting role and provides funding through the Indian Environmental General 

Assistance Act of 1992, 42 U.S.C. § 4368b(f) (GAP funding). However, these funds are separate 

from those appropriated under the Open Dump Act. According to the EPA, “GAP will remain focused 

on supporting tribal government efforts to develop a sustainable program designed to address and 

prevent new, or recurring, unauthorized dumping on tribal lands. IHS is the primary federal agency 

responsible for identifying, assessing and funding open dump cleanups and closures.”7 

D. The White Mountain Apache Tribe’s Efforts and Expenditures to Address 
Open Dumps. 
 

From 1990 to 1994, the Tribe proactively developed a Tribal plan to clean up open dumps, 

and partly paid to ship waste off the Reservation (US PFOF 12-14). Shortly following passage of the 

Open Dump Act, White Mountain Apache Tribal Chairman Lupe requested funding and technical 

assistance under the Open Dump Act for open dump closure. ECF No. 66-16 at 2-3. Reflecting the 

broader history observed by Congress, Chairman Lupe described the Government’s history of both 

using Government equipment to open dump sites and of discarding trash on the Reservation. Id. 

Chairman Lupe also echoed the testimony of Tribal leaders and members of the House and Senate in 

identifying the primary need as dedicated funding: “[t]he Tribe is willing to take the lead on dump 

closure operations, including surveying, procuring contractors and construction observation, but 

 
 
6Indian Health Service, Justification of Estimates for Appropriations Committees (March 22, 2019), 
available here: 
https://www.ihs.gov/sites/budgetformulation/themes/responsive2017/display_objects/documents/FY
2020CongressionalJustification.pdf at CJ-177. 
 
7 U.S. EPA, Guidebook for Building Tribal Environmental Program Capacity (May 15, 2013), 
available here:  
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-05/documents/2013-gap-guidance-final.pdf at 31. 
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needs monetary support from the Bureau to be fully successful in this effort.” Id. at 3.  

The Tribe spent significant financial and staff resources developing a plan to close open 

dumps, including $140,000 in an aggressive push to close early dumps. See, e.g., ECF No. 66-24. The 

Tribe also obtained grants and took out a loan of more than $800,000 to construct a major landfill (US 

PFOF 15-18). Even though IHS is required by the Open Dump Act to provide funding, the Tribe 

obtained the majority of the funding through other grant programs. Id.  

In addition to closing open dumps, the Tribe has put significant focus on preventing dumps. 

See, e.g., ECF No. 66-4. While the United States retains authority and jurisdiction to enforce federal 

law over Tribal and non-Tribal individuals and entities, open dump regulation is carried out in part by 

the Tribe’s Public Works Department and Environmental Protection Office (US PFOF 2-3). The Tribe 

has approved and implemented a Tribal Solid Waste Ordinance (US PFOF 4). The Tribe has spent 

significant Tribal resources on dump closure efforts, ECF No. 66-24; ECF No. 66-30, undertaken 

significant community outreach efforts and community cleanup events, ECF No. 66-5 at 19, and 

developed comprehensive Integrated Solid Waste Plan Integrated Solid Waste Mgmt. Plans for 1994 

(ECF No. 66-2), 2013-2018 (ECF No. 66-20), and 2019-2024 (ECF No. 66-5).  

E. The United States’ Failure to Implement the Open Dump Act from 2011 to the 
Present.  
 

For the Open Dump Claim, the time period is March 16, 2011 to present. ECF No. 66-47 at 3. 

While the Government documents initial funding and effort to close open dumps during a period from 

approximately 1990-2009, funding and support dropped off precipitously thereafter. The record 

demonstrates that IHS functionally abdicated its lead role prescribed by the Open Dump Act, and 

largely discontinued any funding to the Tribe, despite the serious ongoing threat from open dumps.  

IHS last provided funding to close open dumps for a dump closure project commencing in 
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2004. ECF No. 66-25 at 2-6.8  Following the funding in 2004, the Government documents zero funds 

provided by IHS to close open dumps. ECF No. 66-25 at 2-6. In 2018, IHS provided funds to expand 

an existing landfill. Id. The Government takes the position that the Tribe must prioritize funding from 

IHS relative to other projects on the Reservation (US PFOF 43-46), but that position is contrary to 

Congress’ intent to dedicate funding to close open dumps. See, e.g., S. Rep. No. 103-253 at 14. 

In recent years EPA has provided the Tribe GAP funding, with some dedicated to community 

outreach and other programs and a small percentage dedicated to cleaning up four open dump sites 

(US PFOF 34-35, 37).  The Tribe continues to prioritize cleanup of open dumps and focuses available 

grant funds in this area.  See ECF No. 66-18 at 8-9.  As noted by EPA itself, the Tribe’s efforts using 

GAP funding do not alter IHS’ obligations pursuant to the Open Dump Act.9  Federal agencies have 

persisted to blame each other, as bemoaned by Senator McCain leading up to passage of the Open 

Dump Act. 

While the Government repeatedly characterizes open dumps as being caused by Tribal 

members, at least one Federal dump site remains: a significant BIA dump that has gone untreated and 

remains an environmental and legal liability for the Tribe. ECF No. 66-43. The United States has hired 

a contractor to conduct some soil and groundwater testing but has not remediated the site to applicable 

Federal standards, and future testing will be necessary to assess contamination over time. While the 

Tribe acknowledges that other dumps are likely used by residents of the Reservation or by the 730,000 

annual visitors to the Reservation, ECF No. 66-5 at 10, the contents of the dumps have not been 

 
 
8 ECF No. 66-25 describes funding in 2004. In response to interrogatories, the Government 
describes those funds as having been utilized from 2004 to 2009. ECF No. 66-33 at 6.  
 
9 U.S. EPA, Guidebook for Building Tribal Environmental Program Capacity (May 15, 2013), 
available here:  
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-05/documents/2013-gap-guidance-final.pdf at 31. 
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evaluated and many Reservation residents and visitors are not Tribal members.  

Only after the filing of this suit did IHS conduct a comprehensive open dump inventory, in 

June 2020. That inventory identified 45 open dumps, at least 5 of which contain hazardous waste.  

ECF No. 34 at 6, 8-9.  IHS has provided no funding to close these dumps. The dumps present a 

significant human health and environmental risk10, as they lead to fires, groundwater contamination, 

and serve as vectors for the deadly Rocky Mountain spotted fever. See ECF No. 66-2 at 29; ECF No. 

66-3 at 25. Rates of Rocky Mountain spotted fever, largely attributable to open dumps, have been 300 

times the national average and the disease has severely sickened and killed Tribal members, 

particularly children. ECF No. 66-3 at 4-6, 10-11.11  

V. CORRECTION OF PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT 

The United States sets forth 50 proposed findings of fact to provide background and support 

the summary judgment portion of its motion. ECF No. 66-1 at 8-16. The Government concedes that 

these facts are “not material” to its motion to dismiss, which may be resolved on the Tribe’s allegations 

and the law. See ECF No. 66-1 at 8 n. 1. While the Tribe does not contest the veracity of the exhibits 

referenced by the Government, in many instances the characterization of those facts is incomplete. To 

the extent the Government suggests that funding provided has been adequate to satisfy the Open Dump 

Act and the Government’s fiduciary duties, the Tribe disputes that factual contention.  

PFOF 4. While the Tribe may exert civil and criminal authority over Tribal members on the 

Reservation, the Tribe’s authority is less clearly established on fee lands and over non-members. The 

 
 
10 The risk to human health, the environment, and animals is high and comes in many forms. 
H51DIS0280113-14; ECF No. 66-2 at ECF p. 18-19. 
 
11 A letter from IHS notes succinctly: “These dumps afford potential health risks to the people living 
in these communities that would be remedied by removing these dumps. Examples of health risks 
are injuries associated with harmful objects, runoff of dangerous chemicals, and pests which inhabit 
the refuse.” ECF No. 66-3 at 25.  
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United States retains the authority to enforce Federal law on the Reservation over both Tribal members 

and non-members and therefore shares enforcement responsibilities with the Tribe.  

PFOF 5. The cited statement appears to be referring to home residences rather than individual 

residents. The Tribe elsewhere in the report observes that the “Tribe currently provides curbside solid 

waste pick-up to 3,290 residential homes in the communities of Cibecue, Carrizo, Cedar Creek, 

Canyon Day, East Fork, Seven Mile, Whiteriver, North Fork, Hondah, and McNary,” in addition to 

services provided to businesses and visitors. ECF No. 66-5 at 13 (emphasis added). Because each 

home has multiple residents, and pickup is also provided for businesses and in various public 

locations, waste services are provided to nearly all residents on the Reservation.  

PFOF 6.  The identity of all contributors to open dumps is unknown, but likely includes 

businesses, “community members,” and visitors. See ECF No. 66-5 at 17. Residents may both be 

Tribal members and non-members, and the Tribe receives an estimated 730,000 visitors a year and 

hosts more than 500 RV sites. ECF No. 66-5 at 10. At least one dump, which remains unpermitted, 

was created by BIA. ECF No. 66-43.  

PFOF 7-9. These statements criticize actions allegedly taken by the Tribe’s Public Works 

Department. These statements also demonstrate the seriousness with which Tribal leadership and 

other Tribal agencies have taken regulating dumping on the Reservation.  

PFOF 27. The referenced report refers to trash coming not only from Tribal members, but also 

the broader group of “members of these communities.” ECF No. 66-3 at 5.  

PFOF 37. Particularly during the claims period of 2011 to present, a small fraction of the 

described funding provided relates to closure of open dumps or post-closure maintenance. See ECF 

No. 66-32 (For Tribe’s dump closure efforts EPA provides funding for fuel costs but denies landfill 

costs). The Tribe’s repeated requests for funding to create its own inventory by assembling complaint 

forms evidences the lack of comprehensive inventory prepared by EPA and IHS until June, 2020.  
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PFOF 41.  IHS provided funds in 2004 to close open dumps and funding in 2018 to expand a 

landfill, but otherwise did not provide funds dedicated to open dump closure or maintenance. During 

the claims period of 2011 to present, IHS provided zero funding dedicated to open dump closure or 

post-closure maintenance. The ongoing presence of 45 open dumps confirms lack of funding.  

PFOF 43. The Tribe regularly and recently has sought funding for open dump closure and post-

closure maintenance. See, e.g., ECF No. 66-16 (letter from Chairman requesting funding); 

H51ESI0000103, Exhibit 1 (email from B. Begay requesting funding); ECF No. 66-15 at 8-9 and ECF 

No. 66-6 at 3 (requesting funding from EPA and support from IHS). The Tribe has also sought funds 

for landfill expansion, which helps prevent open dumps and provide space to dispose of waste from 

open dump closure. ECF No. 66-39 at 5.  The statement suggests that the Tribe must prioritize open 

dumps relative to other needs, when the Open Dump Act imposes an independent obligation on IHS.  

PFOF 49. The PFOF suggests that testing has determined there is no environmental threat posed 

by the dump. In fact, ongoing testing will be required as the unpermitted petroleum products and other 

waste degrade and leach over time. The site remains unpermitted.  

PFOF 50.  This statement lacks factual basis. To date, discovery has focused on jurisdictional 

issues. It remains unknown whether there are additional open dumps created by the Government, if 

some of the known open dumps include waste generated by the Government or Government 

employees residing on the Reservation, or if previously closed dumps are in compliance with federal 

regulations, see 25 U.S.C. § 3902(1).  

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The United States styles its motion as both a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary 

judgment. ECF No. 66-1 at 17-18. To overcome a motion to dismiss that is based on inadequacy of 

the allegations, the plaintiff bears the burden to allege sufficient facts to establish the Court’s subject 

matter jurisdiction. Trusted Integration, Inc. v. United States, 659 F.3d 1159, 1163 (Fed. Cir. 2011). 
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However, that is not a heavy burden. When asked to dismiss a complaint for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction based on the face of the complaint, the Court has the “limited” task of determining whether 

the Tribe has stated a claim that could prevail if the Tribe supported it with evidence: 

When a federal court reviews the sufficiency of a complaint, before the 
reception of any evidence either by affidavit or admissions, its task is 
necessarily a limited one. The issue is not whether a plaintiff will ultimately 
prevail but whether the claimant is entitled to offer evidence to support the 
claims. Indeed it may appear on the face of the pleadings that a recovery is very 
remote and unlikely but that is not the test. 
 

Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974), overruled on other grounds by Davis v. Scherer, 468 

U.S. 183 (1984). The Court must accept as true all of the Tribe’s allegations and draw all reasonable 

inferences in the Tribe’s favor. Pixton v. B & B Plastics, Inc., 291 F.3d 1324, 1326 (Fed. Cir. 2002); 

Henke v. United States, 60 F.3d 795, 797 (Fed. Cir. 1995); Rosebud Sioux Tribe v. United States, 75 

Fed. Cl. 15, 22 (2007). Even if it appears on the face of the pleadings that a recovery is “very remote 

and unlikely,” the Government’s Motion should not be granted “unless it appears beyond doubt” that 

the Tribe can prove no set of facts in support of its claim which would entitle it to relief. See Hamlet 

v. United States, 873 F.2d 1414, 1416 (1989); Rosebud Sioux, 75 Fed. Cl. at 22-23. 

  With respect to the motion for summary judgment, the Government bears the burden. 

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine dispute as to any issue of material fact, 

and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. RCFC 56(a); Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). A fact is "material" if it might significantly alter the outcome of 

the case under the governing law. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. Summary judgment will not be granted 

if the "evidence is such that a reasonable [trier of fact] could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." 

Id. at 248. The Court's function is not to weigh the evidence and determine the merits of the case 

presented, but to determine whether there is a genuine issue of material fact for trial. Id. at 249; 

Quapaw Tribe of Okla. v. United States, 123 Fed. Cl. 673, 675 (2015); Goodeagle v. United States, 
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128 Fed. Cl. 642, 653 (2016). The Court may enter summary judgment in favor of the non-movant if 

the undisputed facts support judgment. RCFC 56(f).  

VII. ARGUMENT 

The United States’ core argument is that the Tribe’s claim must be dismissed for lack of 

subject-matter jurisdiction as a matter of law because it is not based on a money-mandating duty. The 

Tribe’s claims rest on the Open Dump Act which by its terms easily satisfies the two-part test for 

money-mandating claims, as established by the U.S. Supreme Court. United States v. Navajo Nation, 

537 U.S. 488, 506 (2003) (“Navajo I”); White Mt., 537 U.S. at 472-73.  

Congress passed the Open Dump Act in recognition that “dumps threaten the health and safety 

of residents of Indian and Alaska Native lands,” 25 U.S.C. § 3901(a)(2), that the United States holds 

most of these lands in trust for the benefit of Tribes and Tribal members, § 3901(a)(5), and Tribes 

lacked the resources to address the serious issue themselves, § 3905(a)(6). The substantive 

requirements of the Act expressly mandate that “the Director shall…provide financial and technical 

assistance to the Indian tribal government…to close such dumps” and “provide for postclosure 

maintenance of such dumps,” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b), and the “Director shall” assess “relative severity 

of the threat to public health and the environment posed by each open dump.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(c).  

Congress’ invocation of the trust responsibility, coupled with the repeated use of the term 

“shall” and the clear requirement to provide financial assistance to Tribes easily meets the standard 

for a fiduciary relationship that creates a money mandating duty. The existence of 45 open dumps on 

the Reservation with no plan to fund closure of those dumps demonstrates that the United States has 

failed to comply with the Open Dump Act and violated its fiduciary duties to the Tribe. The United 

States has contributed an ongoing human health crisis, caused damage to lands held in trust for the 

Tribe, and left the Tribe vulnerable to potential legal liability, with resulting money damages.  

A. The Open Dump Act Establishes Fiduciary Duties to the White Mountain 
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Apache Tribe and Mandates Compensation for Damages. 
 
To invoke jurisdiction under the Indian Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1505, the Tribe must satisfy 

a two-part test. First, the Tribe “must identify a substantive source of law that establishes specific 

fiduciary or other duties, and allege that the Government has failed faithfully to perform those 

duties.” Navajo I, 537 U.S. at 506 (citing Mitchell II, 463 U.S. at 216-17, 219). Second, “[i]f that 

threshold is passed, the court must then determine whether the relevant source of substantive law 

‘can fairly be interpreted as mandating compensation for damages sustained as a result of a breach 

of the duties [the governing law] imposes.’” Id. (alteration in original).  

1. The Open Dump Act establishes specific fiduciary duties which the Tribe 
has alleged are breached.  

 
“To establish that the United States has accepted a particular fiduciary duty, an Indian tribe 

must identify statutes or regulations that both impose a specific obligation on the United States and 

‘bear[] the hallmarks of a conventional fiduciary relationship.’” Hopi Tribe v. United States, 782 F.3d 

662, 667 (Fed. Cir. 2015) (quoting Navajo II, 556 U.S. at 301). “[T]he analysis must train on specific 

rights-creating or duty-imposing statutory or regulatory prescriptions." Navajo I, 537 U.S. at 506. A 

mandatory duty to manage a tribal resource for the benefit of the tribe creates fiduciary duties 

enforceable by money damages. See Shoshone Indian Tribe of the Wind River Reservation v. United 

States, 56 Fed. Cl. 639, 646-648 (2003).  

The Open Dump Act imposes mandatory duties plainly recognizing and establishing a 

fiduciary duty to the Tribe. At the outset, the statute recognizes that many open dumps exist on Indian 

lands, that they pose a severe threat to human health and the environment, that “the United States 

holds most Indian lands in trust for the benefit of Indian tribes and Indian individuals,” § 3901(a)(5), 

and that most Tribes “lack the financial and technical resources necessary to close and maintain these 

dumps in compliance with applicable Federal laws,” § 3901(a)(6). Based on these findings, the Act 

Case 1:17-cv-00359-KCD   Document 70   Filed 01/22/21   Page 27 of 46



23 

establishes purposes to “identify the location of open dumps,” § 3901(b)(1), “assess the relative health 

and environmental hazards posed by such dumps,” § 3901(b)(2), and to “provide financial and 

technical assistance to Indian tribal governments and Alaska Native entities, either directly or by 

contract, to close such dumps in compliance with applicable Federal standards and regulations, or 

standards promulgated by an Indian tribal government,” whichever is more stringent. § 3901(b)(3).  

The substantive provisions of the Act impose specific express duties on the United States to 

manage lands held in trust. 25 U.S.C. § 3904(a) requires that upon request from a Tribe, IHS, in 

consultation with EPA, “the Director shall” take the following steps on Indian lands: “conduct an 

inventory and evaluation of the contents of open dumps on the Indian lands,” then “determine the 

relative severity of the threat to public health and the environment posed by each dump,” and then 

“develop cost estimates for the closure and postclosure maintenance of such dumps.” IHS must 

determine the location and extent of the problem, and how much it will cost to remedy.  

But the Act is not merely a planning statute—Congress recognized that open dumps present a 

dire threat to Indian country, and compelled action and funding. Subsection (b) requires that, once the 

steps in subsection (a) are complete, “the Director shall, subject to subsection (c), provide financial 

and technical assistance to the Indian tribal government…to carry out the activities necessary to—(1) 

close such dumps; and (2) provide for postclosure maintenance of such dumps.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b) 

(Emphasis added). The text does not provide discretion. Once IHS has identified the scope of the 

problem and how much it will cost to fix, if the Tribe so desires, “the Director shall” provide the 

funding necessary to close and maintain the identified dumps. Subsection (c) provides that the dumps 

must be closed according to the threat they pose to the Tribe as funding is available, but does not 

temper the mandatory duty to fund dump closure and maintenance of close dumps. The Act mandates 

that the Director must develop priorities that “shall take into account the relative severity of the threat 

to public health and the environment posed by each open dump.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(c).  
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The Act sets forth a comprehensive scheme to solve what Congress recognized as a human 

health, environmental, and legal crisis. Faced with a splintered and ineffective bureaucracy, Congress 

clearly delegated responsibility to IHS to create comprehensive inventories, evaluations, and cleanup 

plans, including monitoring and testing of trust resources. The Act gives the Director specific 

authority and responsibility to safeguard the health of Tribal members, trust lands, and trust resources. 

These duties to manage and safeguard resources for the benefit of the Tribe are hallmarks of a 

fiduciary duty. See Shoshone Indian Tribe, 56 Fed. Cl. at 646-648; White Mt. Apache, 537 U.S. at 

473. Invocation of the trust responsibility, 25 U.S.C. § 3509(a)(5), and imposing management duties 

on the United States, further confirms the creation of specific fiduciary duties. See Inter-Tribal 

Council of Ariz., Inc. v. United States, 956 F.3d 1328 (Fed. Cir. 2020).  

The repeated use of the word “shall” in 25 U.S.C. §§ 3509(a) and 3509(b) is a dispositive 

indication that the duties imposed are mandatory and create a fiduciary relationship. See Samish 

Indian Nation v. United States, 419 F.3d 1355, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2005); Agwiak v. United States, 347 

F.3d 1375, 1380 (Fed. Cir. 2003). This Court and the Supreme Court have repeatedly held that such 

“statutory ‘prescription[s] . . . bear[] the hallmarks of a 'conventional fiduciary relationship.’" Jicarilla 

Apache Nation v. United States, 100 Fed. Cl. 726, 731-32 (2011) (citing Navajo II, 129 S. Ct. at 1558 

(quoting White Mt. Apache Tribe, 537 U.S. at 473). The Act vests the United States with management 

and control over trust resources, discretion with respect to their protection, and detailed 

responsibilities to account to the tribal beneficiary. Id. By making such requirements mandatory, 

Congress expressly established the obligation to manage a trust resource for the benefit of the Tribe. 

See Pawnee v. United States, 830 F.2d 187, 190 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (Congressional finding that “the 

Secretary should aggressively carry out his trust responsibility in the administration of Indian oil and 

gas” supports conclusion that fiduciary relationship created).  

In structure, purpose, and application, the Open Dump Act is closely similar to the Indian 
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Dams Safety Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3801 et. seq., which requires the Government to inventory dams, 

evaluate public health risk, create a cost evaluation to address the issue, and to provide funding. 25 

U.S.C. § 3804. This Court has already determined that the Indian Dams Safety Act creates a fiduciary, 

money-mandating duty and denied the Government’s motion to dismiss claims based on the Act.  ECF 

No. 22 at 14.  That decision is law of the case, and the same analysis applies here.  

Legislative history confirms Congressional intent to impose fiduciary duties upon the United 

States for cleaning up open dumps on Indian lands. Senator McCain, one of the bill sponsors, 

described the open dumps issue involving “human health, the environment and the Federal trust 

responsibility,” and stated an expectation that the legislation would generate “a more constructive 

response from the agencies.” Congressional Record-Senate 7315 (April 1, 1993). The House 

Committee likewise recognized the “continuing obligation on the part of the Federal government to 

ensure that these landfills meet the Federal landfill criteria.” H.R. Rep. No. 103-783 at 7. Congress 

intended that IHS would provide the assistance and resources necessary to ensure that open dumps 

were cleaned up, and imposed mandatory duties to achieve that clear objective.  

While the text of the Open Dump Act, standing alone, is sufficient to create specific fiduciary 

duties, that conclusion is buttressed by related statutory requirements. 25 U.S.C. § 162a(d)(8) 

commands that “proper discharge of the trust responsibilities of the United States shall 

include…Appropriately managing the natural resources located within the boundaries of Indian 

reservations and trust lands.” This statute confirms that lands defined as “Indian lands” in the Open 

Dump Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3903, are a trust resource, and the Government has an underlying fiduciary 

duty to protect the Tribe’s Reservation by taking statutorily required measures, such as conducting an 

inventory and providing financial assistance to close open dumps.  25 U.S.C. § 3904.  Likewise, 

RCRA dictates that open dumps are unlawful and present a serious human health and environmental 

risk, imposes liability on the Tribe based in large part on the Government’s failure to comply with the 
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Open Dump Act, and confirms that failure to comply with statutory directives to protect Indian lands 

constitutes a breach of trust. See Blue Legs v. BIA, 867 F.2d 1094, 1101 (8th Cir. 1989).12  

Finally, underlying principles of common law support the conclusion that the Open Dump Act 

creates a specific fiduciary duty. While the Government’s “obligations and responsibilities originate 

in statute… once established, they may be reinforced by principles that flow from the general trust 

relationship that has existed between the United States and the Tribes for centuries.” Jicarilla Apache 

Nation v. United States, 112 Fed. Cl. 274, 279 (2013). Here, the Government has a fundamental and 

core fiduciary duty to protect lands within the boundaries of the Reservation, which constitute a trust 

resource fundamental to the Tribe’s sovereignty and well-being. “Where a trust relationship exists, 

‘the trustee has a duty to protect the trust property against damage or destruction. He is obligated to 

the beneficiary to do all acts necessary for the preservation of the trust res which would be performed 

by a reasonably prudent man employing his own like property for purposes similar to those of the 

trust.’” Ft. Mojave Indian Tribe v. United States, 23 Cl. Ct. 417, 426 (1991) (quoting G. Bogert, The 

Law of Trusts and Trustees § 582 (2d ed. revised 1980), also citing Restatement (Second) of Trusts, 

§ 176 (1959)). The requirements of the Open Dump Act specify and reflect a core fiduciary obligation: 

to protect the trust property, here the lands that make up the Tribe’s Reservation.  

The Open Dump Act squarely applies to the Tribe’s allegations and the facts. The Reservation 

constitutes Indian lands and a trust resource, 25 U.S.C. § 3902(1), there are open dumps on the 

Reservation trust lands that present a serious human health and environmental threat, ECF No. 66-3 

 
 
12 The documented BIA “unpermitted site” on the Tribe’s Reservation provides a telling example of 
the interplay of these three statutes. The Government has a general trust obligation to appropriately 
manage the Tribe’s lands, including those near the Sunrise Ski Area. 25 U.S.C. § 162a(d)(8). The 
BIA created the dump and failed to appropriately fund closure of the dump, which violated the Open 
Dump Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b), and breached the trust duty to the Tribe. This failure has created 
significant legal liability under RCRA, which confirms the breach of trust and demonstrates 
monetary damages. 
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at 5, the Tribe lacks the resources to address the problem, and the Tribe has repeatedly requested 

assistance to protect trust resources.  See supra at 19, PFOF 43 (listing examples). Congress has 

created a fiduciary duty and mandated that IHS take action.  

The United States repeatedly cites El Paso Natural Gas Co. v. United States, 750 F.3d 863, 

899 (D.C. Cir. 2014) for the proposition that “the Indian Lands Open Dump Cleanup Act – the 

statutory basis for the Tribe’s claim – does not ‘create a conventional fiduciary relationship that is 

enforceable as a breach of trust.’” ECF No. 66-1 at 6. The Government is incorrect. El Paso Natural 

Gas is inapplicable because it was not a suit in the Federal Court of Claims for money damages, did 

not involve the Indian Tucker Act, and did not involve the same statutory language in the Indian Lands 

Open Dump Cleanup Act. The plaintiff Navajo Nation sought declaratory and injunctive relief and 

the court did not address the Act’s requirement to provide financial support under 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b).  

Indeed, while the court set forth the basic legal framework for evaluating breach of trust 

claims, it specifically recognized that “the claim is for equitable relief (not money damages) and even 

though sovereign immunity is waived under § 702 of the APA (and not the Indian Tucker Act).” El 

Paso Natural Gas Co., 750 F.3d at 895. The court also acknowledged that “facets of the Supreme 

Court's Indian Tucker Act jurisprudence may be unique to the Indian Tucker Act and, accordingly, 

not binding on Indian trust claims brought outside the Act.” Id. (citing Cohen's Handbook of Federal 

Indian Law § 5.05[3][c]). These distinctions undermine any persuasive authority of El Paso Natural 

Gas. Where a “[c]ourt does not purport to define the limits of this court’s jurisdiction—an issue not 

before it—but rather to ascertain the limits of the district court’s jurisdiction under the APA,” it should 

render the Court of Claims “reluctant to extend statements made in that context to divest this court of 

its traditional jurisdiction over claims arising under a money-mandating statute.” Lummi Tribe of the 

Lummi Reservation v. United States, 99 Fed. Cl. 584, 595-96 (2011) (reversed on other grounds). 

  A close review of the case confirms that it is inapt. There, plaintiff was a private entity, El 
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Paso Natural Gas Company, raising claims under two statutes: the Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation 

Control Act of 1978 ("Mill Tailings Act"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 7901-7942, and the Solid Waste Disposal 

Act, which is commonly referred to as the RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992k. The Navajo Nation 

intervened and asserted parallel claims. The Nation also brought, with limited emphasis, various other 

claims under a laundry list of other statutes, one of which was the Open Dump Act. Id. at 869-70.  

 In its analysis of the Open Dump Act, the court determined that the Act does not create an 

implied cause of action, and that a claim premised on the Administrative Procedure Act “also fails.” 

Id. at 889-91. Neither of those issues are pertinent here. The court then briefly addressed whether the 

Tribe had a cause of action for breach of trust. In the 30-page opinion, the court provided one 

paragraph of analysis as to whether the Act gave rise to a cause of action for breach of trust. Id. at 

899. The court determined that the Act did not impose enforceable trust duties because “the statute 

does not vest in the Government—either expressly as in Mitchell II or by implication as in White 

Mt.—any responsibility or management or control of Indian property.” Id. (emphasis in original).  

The court’s analysis would be highly questionable as applied to the facts here, given that the 

United States holds much of the 1.66 million acre Reservation in trust for the Tribe, with 

corresponding duties to protect the lands. See US PFOF 1. The analysis is also not instructive because, 

as set forth supra, the Tribe’s claim relies on an express money mandate at 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b) rather 

than solely relying on the Government’s management or control over Indian property. The 

management and control analysis and conclusion in El Paso Natural Gas therefore do not apply.  

In sum, Congress mandated that the Government identify a problem with a trust resource, take 

responsibility for that problem, and then promise it for the benefit of the Tribe. This Congressional 

intent to manage a trust resource for the benefit of the Tribe is demonstrative of a fiduciary 

relationship. See Shoshone Indian Tribe, 56 Fed. Cl. at 646-648. Having established that the Act 

creates a fiduciary duty, there is no doubt that the Tribe has adequately alleged breach. The Tribe 
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alleged that “[t]he Tribe claims that the United States has breached its trust responsibilities to the 

Tribe by failing to provide adequate financial and technical assistance … These claims extend to 

damages caused by the lack of dump identification, planning, closure and maintenance, such as soil 

and water remediation and human health effects.” ECF No. 66-47 at 2.  

2. The Open Dump Act creates a money-mandating duty.  
 

The second step is to assess whether the Open Dump Act creates a money-mandating duty. A 

statute is money mandating if either: (1) "it can fairly be interpreted as mandating compensation by 

the Federal Government for . . . damages sustained"; or (2) "it grants the claimant a right to recover 

damages either expressly or by implication." Blueport Co., LLC v. United States, 533 F.3d 1374, 1383 

(Fed. Cir. 2008) (quoting Mitchell II, 463 U.S. at 216-17 (internal quotation marks omitted)). The 

Supreme Court "ha[s] consistently recognized that the existence of a trust relationship between the 

[Government] and an . . . Indian tribe includes as a fundamental incident the right of an injured 

beneficiary to sue the trustee for damages resulting from a breach of the trust." Mitchell II, 463 U.S. 

at 226. "Given the existence of a trust relationship, it naturally follows that the Government should be 

liable in damages for the breach of its fiduciary duties." Id. Given the presumption that a fiduciary 

relationship gives rise to money damages, the substantive law need only be "reasonably amenable" to 

an interpretation "that it mandates a right of recovery in damages," to establish jurisdiction under the 

Indian Tucker Act. White Mt. Apache Tribe, 537 U.S. at 469-70. 

Here again, the analysis is at its simplest and most straight-forward when the statute uses the 

word “shall” connected to a command to provide money. “The Federal Circuit has repeatedly 

recognized that the use of the word ‘shall’ generally makes a statute money-mandating.’” Agwiak v. 

United States, 347 F.3d 1375, 1380 (Fed. Cir. 2003); Wolfchild v. United States, 101 Fed. Cl. 54, 70 
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(2011). A litany of Federal Court of Claims and Federal Circuit cases confirm this rule.13  

 The requirements of the Act align closely with cases finding a money-mandating fiduciary 

obligation. While there are innumerable examples providing that “shall” connected to funding creates 

a money-mandating duty, Shoshone Indian Tribe, 56 Fed. Cl. 639 (2003) and Greenlee County, 

Arizona v. United States, 487 F.3d 871, 877 (Fed. Cir. 2007) are particularly instructive.  

In Shoshone Indian Tribe, this Court provided an extensive analysis of applicable case law to 

determine whether statutes and regulations governing oil and gas leasing created a specific fiduciary 

duty that was money-mandating. The Court focused on two sets of regulations governing preparation 

of economic analysis, one that preceded 1988 and the amended, post-1988 version. The pre-1988 

version was money-mandating because the regulation dictated that “if data are available to compute 

a major portion, MMS will, where practicable, compare the value determined in accordance with this 

section with the major portion.”  Id. at 649 (emphasis added by court). The term “will” was dispositive, 

despite the “discretion afforded the Secretary.” Id. Likewise, the post-1988 regulation required that 

“[t]he value of production, for the purpose of computing royalty, shall be the estimated reasonable 

value of the product as determined by the Associate Director, due consideration being given to the 

highest price paid…” Id. (emphasis added by court).  Again, the court determined that even though 

some discretion was provided, the mandatory term “shall” was dispositive and created a money-

 
 
13 See, e.g., Downey v. United States, 147 Fed. Cl. 171, 177 (2020) (phrase “shall be paid” is money 
mandating); Sanford Health Plan v. United States, 139 Fed. Cl. 701, 705-06 (2018) (phrase “the 
Secretary shall make periodic and timely payments” is money mandating); City of Wilmington v. 
United States, 136 Fed. Cl. 628, 631 (2018); Greenlee County, Arizona v. United States, 487 F.3d 
871, 877 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (phrase “shall make a payment” is money-mandating); Britell v. United 
States, 372 F.3d 1370, 1378 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (“mandatory language, e.g., ‘will pay’ or ‘shall pay’ 
creates the necessary ‘money-mandate,’ for Tucker Act purposes.”); DeKalb Cty., Georgia v. United 
States, 108 Fed. Cl. 681, 695-96 (2013) (explaining that the word "shall" generally makes a 
statute money-mandating); Sawyer v. United States, 930 F.2d 1577 (Fed. Cir. 1991) (even statute that 
says Government “may” pay can be money-mandating). 
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mandating duty. The same framework of a mandatory inventory and evaluation, connected to financial 

terms, is present in the Open Dump Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3904.  

In Greenlee County, the court considered whether the Payment in Lieu of Taxes Act ("PILT"), 

31 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., created a money-mandating duty. Under PILT, "the Secretary of the Interior 

is required to make annual payments to each unit of general local government in which entitlement 

land is located." 31 U.S.C. § 6902. The Act also conditioned funds based on appropriations: 

“"[n]ecessary amounts may be appropriated to the Secretary of the Interior to carry out this chapter. 

Amounts are available only as provided in appropriation laws." Id. at § 6906. In order to receive 

funding, a local government was required to be determined to be a “unit of local general government” 

by Interior, and funding had to be made available by Congress. Greenlee County, 487 F.3d at 874. If 

those conditions were met, payment was mandatory. The Federal Circuit determined that the statute’s 

use of the word “shall” connected with a payment was a dispositive indication of a money-mandating 

duty, even though the payment was subject to conditions.  Id. at 877.  

The Shoshone and Greenlee reasoning applies here. The Open Dump Act requires that an 

Indian Tribe request aid, 25 U.S.C. § 3904(a), but where that condition is met, the statute mandates 

that “the Director shall…provide financial and technical assistance.” While there is some discretion 

as to the prioritization of the dumps to be cleaned up, 25 U.S.C. § 3904(c), there is no discretion 

afforded to IHS as to whether to provide available funding, and thus the duty is money-mandating. 

Accord Samish Indian Nation v. United States, 419 F.3d 1355, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (noting that 

statutory schemes that leave room for discretion can support Tucker Act jurisdiction if, inter alia, they 

"compel payment on satisfaction of certain conditions"); Samish Indian Nation v. United States, 657 

F.3d 1330, 1336 (Fed. Cir. 2011) (vacated on other grounds).  

 While some aspects of the implementation scheme of the Open Dump Act envision Tribal 

involvement, this involvement does not alter the existence of the Government’s fiduciary duty. In 
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Osage Tribe of Indians v. United States, 68 Fed. Cl. 322, 331-33 (2005), this Court considered a 

complex oil and gas leasing regime. By regulation, the tribal council had authority to enter into leases 

and determine the royalty amount paid, but the Government had the obligation to determine whether 

the lessees fulfilled their contractual obligations. This Court held that "[a] trusteeship would mean 

little if the beneficiaries were required to supervise the day-to-day management of their estate by the 

trustee or else be precluded from recovery for mismanagement," id. at 332 (citing Mitchell II, 463 

U.S. at 227), and that notwithstanding tribal involvement the Government’s supervisory obligation 

“can fairly be interpreted as mandating compensation for damages sustained from violations of those 

duties.” Id. (citing Mitchell II, 463 U.S. at 228). The same analysis applies here: while the Tribe has 

potential involvement, the Government ultimately bears the responsibility to conduct the open dump 

inventory and evaluation, and must provide the funding assistance needed to complete dump closure 

and post-closure maintenance. The critical oversight role and ultimate obligation by the Government 

can fairly be interpreted as mandating compensation for damages. Id.  

The Government further contends that the Open Dump Act is not money-mandating because 

the “Act provides for cleaning up dumps rather than ‘authoriz[ing] a free and clear transfer of 

money,’” relying upon Lummi Tribe of the Lummi Reservation v. United States, 870 F.3d 1313, 1319 

(Fed. Cir. 2017). ECF No. 66-1 at 30. The Government’s characterization is not accurate. The Act 

specifically provides that “the Director shall provide…financial and technical assistance to the Indian 

tribal government.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b). The clear mechanism provided by Congress was for IHS to 

provide funds to the Tribe to address the issue of open dumps. The United States’ failure to follow 

the statutory directive resulted in the Tribe both having to spend its own funds and to suffer other 

damages, which are compensable in a breach of trust suit. Shoshone Indian Tribe, 56 Fed. Cl. at 649.  

The Supreme Court rejected precisely the same argument the Government makes here in White 

Mt. Apache Tribe, where, unlike the Open Dump Act, the statute requiring the United States to 
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maintain Fort Apache did not expressly mention money:  

the Government argues that the inference of a damages remedy is unsound simply 
because damages are inappropriate as a remedy for failures of maintenance, 
prospective injunctive relief being the sole relief tailored to the situation…We 
think this is clearly wrong. If the Government is suggesting that the recompense 
for run-down buildings should be an affirmative order to repair them, it is merely 
proposing the economic (but perhaps cumbersome) equivalent of damages. 

 
537 U.S. at 478 (emphasis added). Even if the Government were correct that the remedy available 

under the statute is the cleaning up of dumps, the potential injunctive relief is the equivalent of 

damages and thus an award of money is appropriate and available.  

The Tribe’s claim is further distinguishable from the claim denied in Lummi Tribe because the 

Tribe expressly seeks damages rather than fulfillment of a grant request. In Lummi Tribe, the court 

determined that the “only alleged harm is having been allocated too little in grant funding. Thus, at 

best, the Tribes seek a nominally greater strings-attached disbursement.” Id. at 1318. The court was 

also concerned that the Tribe would remain subject to numerous conditions on how it spent funds, and 

that funds received would be held on behalf of Tribal member beneficiaries. Id.  In contrast, the 

Tribe expressly seeks money damages associated with the Government’s violation of the statute.  ECF 

No. 66-47 at 2. Funds received under the statute are not subject to further federal conditions or held 

on behalf of members. 25 U.S.C. § 3905(b). The damages sought are closely akin to the damages 

sought for lack of maintenance in White Mt. Apache, and thus the Tribe has identified a money-

mandating duty giving rise to jurisdiction under the Indian Tucker Act.  

The Government further argues that the funding requirements of § 3904(b) are discretionary 

and not money-mandating. While this Court and the Federal Circuit have found Congress provided 

damage remedies where the statutory text leaves the government no discretion over payment of 

claimed funds, “Tucker Act jurisdiction is not limited to such narrow statutory entitlements.” Samish 

Indian Nation, 419 F.3d at 1364-65 (citing Perri v. United States, 340 F.3d 1337, 1342-43 (Fed. Cir. 
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2003)). “Certain discretionary schemes also support claims within the Court of Federal Claims 

jurisdiction. These include statutes…[that] compel payment on satisfaction of certain conditions.” Id. 

Even where agency actions are largely discretionary, they can be money-mandating because 

Government decisions still would be subject to responsible fiduciary standards. W. Shoshone 

Identifiable Grp. v. United States, 143 Fed. Cl. 545, 603 (2019) (“Although the statute allows the 

Secretary the discretion to decide whether to invest tribal trust funds…Once the Secretary of the 

Interior has made the decision to invest tribal trust funds…the Secretary is obligated to accurately 

account for its investments of such funds and to properly manage the assets so invested in.”). Here, 

25 U.S.C. § 3904(c) does not provide the Government with discretion as to whether to provide 

funding. It only serves to specify how the “financial and technical assistance” mandated by § 3904(b) 

must be provided. The provision requires a prioritization of dumps on a site-specific basis but provides 

no discretion to the Director to not provide funds. Likewise, the requirement that the Tribe must 

request assistance, § 3904(a), compels payment on satisfaction of that condition.  The statute is 

therefore money-mandating. Samish Indian Nation, 419 F.3d at 1364-65.  As established in Greenlee 

County, 487 F.3d at 877, the fact that funding is ultimately subject to Congressional appropriation 

does not render the Director’s duties non-discretionary. 

3. The Government otherwise mischaracterizes the Indian Open Dump 
Cleanup Act and the facts. 

 
The Government mischaracterizes the Tribe’s claims as alleging that the Government must 

“clean up every piece of solid waste on Indian lands.” ECF No. 66-1 at 6.  The Government also 

repeatedly asserts that “the Tribe is responsible for open dumping on its Reservation, as well as efforts 

to convince its own members and Solid Waste Department to cease open dumping on the 

Reservation.” ECF No. 66-1 at 30; see also ECF No. 66-1 at 9 (allegation that the “Tribe’s members 

have illegally dumped solid waste throughout the Reservation for years and continue to do so.”).  
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The Tribe’s claim expressly only pertains to statutorily defined open dumps. ECF No. 66-47 

at 2.  The term “open dump” is defined, 25 U.S.C. § 3902(7), and the statute further limits open dumps 

covered by the Act to exclude those that: “(1) that comprise an area of one-half acre or less and that 

are used by individual families on lands to which they hold legal or beneficial title,” “(2) of any size 

that have been or are being operated for a profit;” or “(3)where solid waste from an industrial process 

is being or has been routinely disposed of at a privately owned facility in compliance with applicable 

Federal laws.” 25 U.S.C. § 3908(b). Thus, the Government’s contention that the Tribe asks for funding 

to “clean up every piece of solid waste on Indian lands” is false. The Tribe seeks money damages for 

failure to inventory and fund cleanup and post-closure maintenance of “open dumps.”  

With respect to the Government’s assertion that the Tribe is responsible for open dumps 

because Tribal members allegedly created them, the plain language of the statute does not distinguish 

based on the source of waste in the open dump or precede any reference to “open dumps” with such 

limiting language. To the contrary, it recognizes that “many”—but not all of—“these dumps were 

established or are used by Federal agencies.” 25 U.S.C. § 3901(a)(3). Indeed, in passing the Act 

Congress cited an example open dump that “contained garbage, appliances, toxic and chemical waste, 

and even the carcasses of dead livestock, all left by residents and nonresidents of the Reservation. 

Pits like these exist on reservations across the country.” House Congressional Record 27728 (Oct. 4, 

1994) (emphasis added). Congress was well aware that some dumps featured mixed waste sources or 

waste associated with Reservation residents, and so knowing, chose to require the inventory, 

evaluation, and cleanup of all open dumps on Indian lands because of the threat presented. 25 U.S.C. 

§§ 3904(a)-(b). Neither the Government nor the Tribe knows the origin of the contents of the open

dumps, because the Government has failed to perform the evaluation required by 25 U.S.C. § 

3904(a)(1)(A)-(B). Moreover, to argue for creation of an exception for open dumps created in whole 

or in part by the Tribal members makes no sense given that many Tribal members live on the 
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Reservation and inappropriately singles out the actions of members in a disparate manner.  

B. The Tribe’s Complaint and Claim Specification Plead Sufficient Facts to
Establish this Court’s Jurisdiction.

The Government repeats arguments already made and rejected by this Court that “the Tribe’s 

open dump claim should be dismissed under RCFC 12(b)(6) and 12(c) because the Tribe failed to 

plead any facts supporting its claim. The Tribe’s open dump claim should be dismissed because the 

Tribe fails to identify a single open dump that the United States [contributed] to, much less a basis 

for the United States to pay the Tribe damages based upon the Tribe’s members dumped waste on 

the Reservation.” ECF No. 66-1 at 46.  

To avoid dismissal under RCFC 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim, “a complaint must allege 

facts ‘plausibly suggesting (not merely consistent with)’ a showing of entitlement to relief.” Matthews 

v. United States, 750 F.3d 1320, 1322 (Fed. Cir. 2014). “The facts as alleged ‘must be enough to raise

a right to relief above the speculative level, on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint 

are true (even if doubtful in fact).’” Kam-Almaz v. United States, 682 F.3d 1364, 1367-68 (Fed. Cir. 

2012) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). The Tribe’s Complaint and claim 

specification easily meet the Twombly standard, as this Court already ruled in denying the 

Government’s first motion to dismiss without prejudice to address whether the claim is timely. ECF 

No. 22 at 10. The Tribe’s complaint adequately alleges the United States’ breach of trust contaminated 

the Reservation, ECF No. 1 at ¶ 15, and the Tribe’s claim specification alleges that the United States 

violated the Open Dump Act, with resulting damages to the Tribe, ECF No. 66-47 at 2. The Tribe 

identified numerous locations of open dumps in GPS coordinates appended to its claim specification 

ordered by this Court. Id. at 5-16.  These allegations meet the pleading standard.  

C. The Undisputed Facts Presented Establish the Government’s Breach of Trust.

The Rules of the Court of Federal Claims Rule 56(f) allows for judgment in favor of the 
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nonmovant. “A breach of trust may be established by showing that Interior failed to comply either 

with mandatory trust obligations specified in a statute or in its own regulations, or with the fiduciary 

duties that spring from those obligations.” Jicarilla Apache Nation v. United States, 112 Fed. Cl. 274, 

288 (2013). Partial summary judgment is appropriate here with respect to the Tribe’s claim that the 

United States has breached its fiduciary duty to the Tribe by violating the Open Dump Act.  

It is uncontested that at the time of the filing of the Complaint in March, 2017, the Government 

had not prepared the required comprehensive open dump inventory—it did not prepare the inventory 

until June, 2020. ECF No. 66-35 at 2-6. This failure violated 25 U.S.C. § 3904(a)(1)(A), with resulting 

damage to the Tribe, because it delayed evaluation and cleanup that otherwise that could have 

occurred. While the Government has given a very limited label of health risk for each dump (without 

explanation), the Government has not performed a meaningful evaluation of health risk or developed 

cost estimates for dump closure, which violates 25 U.S.C. § 3904(a)(1)(B)-(C).  

The Government’s failure to provide funding has been the most damaging violation. IHS 

unilaterally decided that it would no longer provide funding except through its general sundry list, 

which requires prioritization relative to other infrastructure needs on the Reservation. See ECF No. 

66-5 at 32; WMAT 0010819, Exhibit 2 (EPA and IHS MOU discussing SDS system). The

Government’s own spreadsheet documents that IHS has not funded open dump closure since 2004, 

in plain violation of 25 U.S.C. § 3904(b)(1). This is not a question of whether the funding was 

adequate—IHS acknowledges that there are many dumps on the Reservation, and has provided no 

funding since 2004 to close them or perform post-closure maintenance. The limited funding 

provided by EPA likewise pales in comparison to the scope of the need.  The Government’s 

violations of the Open Dump Act constitute a breach of its fiduciary duty to the Tribe.  

The extent of damages requires further factual development and testimony, in part because the 

Government has not developed “site-specific” priorities that reflect “the relative severity of the threat 
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to public health and the environment posed by each open dump.” 25 U.S.C. § 3904(c). If successful 

on summary judgment, the Tribe would prove damages at trial.  

D. The Tribe’s Claim Rests on the Open Dump Act, and the United States’ 
Arguments Regarding Other Statutory Authority are Inapt.  
 

The United States spends significant briefing attacking various misrepresentations of the 

Tribe’s claim.  As stated clearly in the Tribe’s Claim Specification, “[t]he statutory basis for the 

Tribe’s claims is the Indian Lands Open Dump Cleanup Act, as informed by relevant provisions of 

the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and implementing regulations and the Snyder Act and 

25 U.S.C. § 162(d)(8).” ECF No. 66-47 at 3. The Claim Specification goes on to detail the alleged 

violations of the Open Dump Act. The Government’s arguments as to why RCRA, the Snyder Act, 

and 25 U.S.C. § 162(d)(8) do not create a money-mandating duty are inapt, because the Tribe did not 

rely on those statutes or related case law as the cause of action or a money mandating duty. These 

statutes provide context for the Open Dump Act and confirm that it creates specific fiduciary duties. 

Likewise, the Government’s argument that it complied with RCRA and the mandate in Blue Legs, 

867 F.2d at 1094, is unavailing because the Tribe does not assert RCRA claims, and because the 

United States concedes that at least one Government-created, “unpermitted site” is present on the 

Reservation (US PFOF 49). This site, and similar sites that may exist, create substantial potential 

RCRA liability for the Tribe, further establishing the Government’s breach of trust.  

E. The Tribe Has Standing. 

The Government applies Article III standing requirements to contend that the Tribe lacks 

standing, and thus this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. ECF No. 66-1 at 45-46. As a threshold 

matter, the Government’s argument that the Tribe fails to satisfy “constitutional standing” 

requirements is misplaced because such requirements are part of Article III’s case-or-controversy 

requirement for the Article III judiciary; this Court is an Article I tribunal and can eschew “traditional 
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justiciability standards” if “jurisdiction conferred by Congress demands otherwise.” See Shinnecock 

Indian Nation v. United States, 782 F.3d 1345, 1351 n. 7 (Fed. Cir. 2015). Furthermore, the Tribe has 

met the Article III standing requirements, by alleging (1) an "actual or imminent" injury-in-fact that 

is "concrete and particularized"; (2) a "causal connection between the injury and the conduct 

complained of"; and (3) "likely[] . . . redress[ ability] by a favorable decision." Lujan v. Defs. of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 559-60 (1992). The Tribe as a beneficiary of the trust relationship created by 

the Open Dump Act has standing where the Tribe alleges breach of that trust. See ECF No. 22 at 14.  

With respect to injury, the Government attempts to cast blame on the Tribe for not prioritizing 

open dumps relative to unrelated issues such as sewer repairs.  The Tribe has no such responsibility—

the Act requires the Government to provide financial assistance irrespective of other, non-related 

infrastructure issues, 25 U.S.C. § 3905(b), independently authorizes appropriations of “such sums as 

may be necessary to carry out this chapter,” § 3907(a), and envisions that these activities would be 

“coordinated with,” but not in competition with, other activities carried out by IHS, § 3907(b). Indeed, 

Congress passed the Act expressly because a small percentage of allocated funds had “been spent by 

the IHS on the development of solid waste collection and disposal facilities because of higher public 

health priority on water supply and sewage disposal problems throughout Indian country.” S. Rep. 

No. 103-253 at 14. Congress’ intent was to provide separate, additional funding to resolve what it 

recognized to be an exigent human and environmental health issue on Indian lands. IHS’ failure to 

provide funding and otherwise implement the statute harms the Tribe.  

Hoopa Valley Tribe v. United States, 597 F.3d 1278 (Fed. Cir. 2010) is not applicable. There, 

the court found lack of standing because the Tribe had “waived any claim against the government 

arising from the Act, received its share of the Settlement Fund, and retained no entitlement to the 

remainder in the Settlement Fund.” Id. at 1283. None of those considerations exist here.  The 

Government next argues that the “Tribe cannot demonstrate that the United States caused its alleged 
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injuries,” because the Tribe does not know the content of the open dumps and whether the United 

States created some of the waste therein. ECF No. 66-1 at 40. This argument conflates two different 

ideas: the source of the waste in open dumps and the causation of injury. The United States is partly 

responsible for creation of open dumps on the Reservation, and wholly responsible for violation of 

the Open Dump Act. This “failure to comply with a statutory procedure that was designed to protect 

against the harm the statute was enacted to prevent” creates concrete harm. See Lyshe v. Levy, 854 

F.3d 855, 859 (6th Cir. 2017). The Tribe has alleged that the United States at least contributed to 

injury to the Tribe, which is sufficient to establish standing. ECF No. 66-47 at 2; Bennett v. Spear, 

520 U.S. 154, 168 (1997); City of Wyoming v. P&G, 210 F. Supp. 3d 1137, 1151-52 (D. Minn. 2016).  

 Finally, the Government attacks redressability, claiming that “the Tribe has not shown that an 

award of damages to the Tribe would lead to the cleanup of any open dumps, much less structural 

improvements that would address the proliferation of open dumps on the Reservation.” ECF No. 66-

1 at 46. Tellingly, the Government does not cite any authority supporting the proposition that a 

plaintiff seeking money damages must allege how it will use those damages in order to establish 

standing. To satisfy the redressability prong of standing, the plaintiff need not prove that the relief 

will resolve the underlying problem, but rather “show that the court can fashion a remedy that will at 

least lessen its injury.” Dantzler, Inc. v. Empresas Berrios Inventory & Operations, Inc., 958 F.3d 38, 

49 (1st Cir. 2020). Where the injury is money damages, an award of money lessens the plaintiff’s 

injury and thereby redresses the injury. “[M]onetary harm is a classic form of injury-in-fact…money 

damages, would likely redress that injury.” Artesanias Hacienda Real S.A. de C.V. v. N. Mill Capital, 

LLC (In re Wilton Armetale, Inc.), 968 F.3d 273, 281 (3d Cir. 2020).  

VIII. CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons stated herein, the Tribe respectfully requests that the Court deny the 

United States’ motion and enter partial summary judgment in favor of the Tribe.  
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